FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 8/19/2021 1:10 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/19/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. _100098-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR STATE OF WASHINGTON

U4IK GARDENS, LLP, a Washington limited liability partnership,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD, KENDRA OGRAN and JOHN DOE NOS. 1-6,

Respondents,

Court of Appeals Case No. 54492-0-II Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for Thurston County

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James L. Buchal, WSB No. 31369 MURPHY & BUCHAL LLP P.O. Box 86620 Portland, OR 97286

Tel: 503-227-1011 Fax: 503-573-1939 Attorney for Petitioner

Preliminary Statement

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is U4IK Gardens LLP, a Washington limited liability partnership, held a Tier 1 recreational marijuana producer/processor license from the Washington Liquor and Cannabis Board ("Board") until an officer of the Board destroyed its business, giving rise to this Petition. (*See* CP54.)

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals opinion affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissing all claims of Petitioner was filed July 20, 2021. A copy of the opinion is set forth in the Appendix at pages A1-A12.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether RCW 69.50.505 and WAC 314-55-210 allowed the Board's officer to arrive unannounced at the business of Petitioner and destroy its inventory of growing marijuana plants (and thus its entire business) with no notice, opportunity to be heard, or other due process of law.
- 2. If the foregoing statutes and rules must be construed in so obviously unconstitutional a manner, whether this Court should establish a constitutional cause of action for damages when Washington officials

arbitrarily destroy property of Washington citizens without notice or opportunity to be heard.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a bitter dispute between owners of Petitioner resolved by binding arbitration, in which the Board's enforcement officer was aligned with the losing side (*see* CP25-26), the officer visited the premises of Petitioner without prior notice and observed 411 marijuana plants not tagged with identification labels (CP55), a violation of a violation of WAC 314-55-083(4)(f), which declares that "[a]ll marijuana plants eight or more inches in height or width must be physically tagged and tracked individually . . .". (CP106.)

While not "physically tagged," the plants were "tracked individually" through entry into the Board's traceability system. (CP55; *see also* CP180-192 (list of batch identification numbers for the plants).)

The reason for the tagging violation was that Petitioner had been unable to get its printer to print out the labels generated by the traceability system. (CP55.)

The officer cut every plant down, severing the main stalks at the base where they met the growing medium and killing them, put them in garbage bags and took them away, leaving Petitioner a receipt for the 411

plants. (CP55; CP57.) Petitioner had no opportunity to save the plants or its business by any process of appeal or law. (CP56.)

Before the trial court, all parties recognized the essential legal question was whether the Board might, through its agents, lawfully destroy Petitioner's inventory (and thus its business) without prior notice or opportunity to be heard, on account of a regulatory violation identified by the Enforcement Officer. On November 22, 2019, Petitioner moved for summary judgment on the issue of liability on its claims for trespass, conversion, takings and an (as yet unrecognized) direct remedy under the Washington Constitution for substantive and procedural due process violations (CP42-53.) On December 20, 2019, Respondents cross-moved for summary judgment dismissing the claims.

On February 21, 2020, the Thurston County Court entered its Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Granting Defendants' Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment on February 21, 2020, which simply recited the record reviewed, offering no rationale for the decision, and dismissed Petitioner's amended complaint with prejudice. (CP193-95). A timely appeal was filed, and on July 20, 2021, the Court of Appeals, Division II, issued an opinion holding that "the Board had authority under RCW 69.50.505 and WAC 314-55-210 to immediately seize and destroy [Petitioner's] untagged marijuana plants". (Opinion at 4.) The Court

of Appeals then stated that it would "decline to depart from . . . prior cases [refusing to recognize an implied cause of action for constitutional violations] absent guidance from the legislature or Supreme Court as to the parameters of a constitutional cause of action for damages". (*Id.* at 11.) While the opinion is unpublished, it is known to the Board, which may now interpret its governing statutes to allow it to dispense entirely with all procedural protections before the Board in violation cases.

Argument

The legalization of marijuana in Washington means it can no longer be considered traditional "contraband" subject to immediate seizure and destruction upon detection by law enforcement authority. It is now a form of personal property that supports a large industry in Washington.

The statute and rules governing the Board contain detailed procedures for addressing violations of the Board's rules, and when and how marijuana may be seized and destroyed. The Legislature specifically required adoption of these rules, but the Court of Appeals found them essentially irrelevant. The Court held that a statute and rule saying officials "may destroy" marijuana, without regard to the statutory and regulatory procedures for doing so, allowed the enforcement officer to act as investigator, prosecutor, judge and executioner with no process of law

whatsoever. The statutes and rules, read in context, need not be twisted to reach such an obviously unconstitutional result.

If the Court of Appeals correctly construed the statutes, then Petitioner's only remedy is a direct action under the Washington Constitution. This Court has previously declined to create such a cause of action where conventional tort remedies offered an adequate substitute, or a litigant has otherwise had his "day in court". The Petition presents the opportunity for this Court to join the many other state supreme courts that have given effect to critical due process provisions when justice so requires because no other remedy is available.

I. PETITIONER'S UNTAGGED PLANTS WERE NOT LAWFULLY DESTROYED.

The severity of the punishment inflicted on Petitioner, in comparison to the guidelines established in the Board's own rules, cannot be understated. The Board's detailed rules address the treatment of regulatory violations, procedures for charging and resolving such violations, and sets of presumptive punishments for violation of the rules. *See generally* WAC 314-55-505 through 525.

Months after the summary destruction of the business, Petitioner was charged by the Board for violation of the tagging requirement with an Administrative Complaint (CP81-82), which noted that the charge was "Licensee's first Group 2 regulatory violation and the standard penalty for this

is a \$2,500 monetary fine under WAC 314-55-525." Even this presumptive penalty was for a general "failure to utilize and/or maintain traceability," rather than a mere tagging violation. Later, WAC 314-55-525 was amended to reduce the presumptive penalty to only \$1,250. WAC 314-55-521.

By contrast, the value of the plants destroyed that day was approximately \$500,000, two hundred times the presumptive penalty at the time (CP26), with greater consequences in the destruction of the business.

A. The Board's Rules Need Not Be Construed to allow Summary Destruction of Licensee Inventory.

The officer's summary destruction of Petitioner's inventory bypassed all the procedures set forth in Board regulations for resolving such violations, but the Court of Appeals declined to require the Board and its officer to follow such procedures. The Court of Appeals isolated WAC 314-55-210(5), which declares:

"The WSLCB *may* destroy any marijuana, marijuana concentrate, usable marijuana, and/or marijuana-infused products in its possession that is not identifiable through the Washington marijuana traceability system or otherwise in a form that is not compliant with Washington's marijuana statutes or rules, chapters 69.50 RCW and 314-55 WAC." (Emphasis added.)

A reasonable officer would have simply allowed Petitioner time to print out the labels and attach them to the plants, because they were entered into the traceability system and "identifiable" in that sense. But even if they were not

6

¹ This charge, and an additional baseless charge, were later settled by payment of the \$2,500 fine. (CP85; CP86.)

"identifiable" within the meaning of the rule, the rule merely authorizes *possible* destruction of untagged plants, and does not purport to specify the procedures to be utilized to do so. Compliance with the procedures would have permitted Petitioner to be heard concerning a reasonable response to the circumstances. In mandating the adoption of rules "specifying procedures for "identifying, seizing, confiscating [and] destroying" non-compliant marijuana (RCW 69.50.505(12)), the Legislature intended the procedures to be followed.

The most applicable procedure is specifically designed to "permit[] a licensee to retain its inventory pending further investigation." WAC 314-55-210(6). It provides for an order for administrative hold on the non-compliant marijuana, and that "[f]ollowing an investigation, the [Board] may lift the administrative hold, order the continuation of the administrative hold, or seek of final agency order for the destruction of the marijuana . . .".

In truly exigent circumstances, a special summary procedure is provided in WAC 314-55-220, which provides that the Board itself—and not a single officer—"may issue an order to summarily destroy marijuana . . . after the [Board's] enforcement division has completed a preliminary staff investigation and upon a determination that immediate destruction is necessary for the protection or preservation of the public health, safety or welfare". WAC 314-55-210(1). Destruction is to proceed only after "personal service on the licensee or employee thereof of the summary

destruction order . . .". WAC 314-55-210(2). No such procedure was used in this case, and no summary destruction order was issued. A third procedure in WAC 314-55-230 provides for destruction after "case adjudication". WAC 314-55-230(2).

The Court of Appeals held, in substance, that the "may destroy" language in WAC 314-55-210(5) made all the procedures optional; any agent might simply destroy any quantity of marijuana deemed to be not identifiable through the traceability system, in a non-compliant form on the spot, or indeed, based on its construction of the related statute, *by reason of any regulatory violation whatsoever*. (*See infra* at 11 n.2.)

While this was the construction urged by the Board, it was not consistent with the longstanding rule that courts should generally construe a legislative enactment "in a way that is consistent with its underlying purpose and avoids constitutional deficiencies". *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wash. 2d 747, 755, 927 P.2d 1129, 1133 (1996). Requiring the Board to utilize at least one of the three procedures above would obviously vindicate the purpose of the rule without making each and every Board officer the investigator, prosecutor, judge and executioner fully empowered to destroy Board licensees with no due process.

B. The Governing Statutes Need Not Be Constructed to Allow Summary Destruction of Licensee Inventory.

The Court of Appeals also found authority for the officer's summary destruction in RCW 69.50.505(12), which is properly understood by putting it in context between subsections (11) and (13):

- "(11) Controlled substances listed in Schedule I, II, III, IV, and V that are *possessed*, *transferred*, *sold*, *or offered for sale in violation of this chapter* are contraband and *shall be seized and summarily forfeited* to the state. Controlled substances listed in Schedule I, II, III, IV, and V, which are seized or come into the possession of the board, the owners of which are unknown, are contraband and shall be summarily forfeited to the board.
- "(12) Species of plants from which controlled substances in Schedules I and II may be derived *which have been planted or cultivated in violation of this chapter*, or of which the owners or cultivators are unknown, or which are wild growths, *may be seized and summarily forfeited* to the board
- "(13) The failure, upon demand by a board inspector or law enforcement officer, of the person in occupancy or in control of land or premises upon which the species of plants are growing or being stored to produce an appropriate registration or proof that he or she is the holder thereof constitutes authority for the seizure and forfeiture of the plants." (Emphasis added.)

The legislature regarded plants (which *may* be destroyed in subsection (12)) as different than contraband controlled substances (which *shall* be destroyed (11)). A constitutional interpretation of the statute would recognize that the word "may" referred Board officials to the procedures to be utilized, which are set forth in RCW 69.50.505 itself, as refined in the Board's rules. There is no dispute that none of these procedures were used here.

The obvious meaning of producing marijuana "in violation of this chapter" is established in the specific provision concerning when growing marijuana plants *may* be "seized and summarily forfeited to the Board".

RCW 69.50.505(12). Subsection (13), by making proof of "an appropriate registration" to grow plants a defense to seizure and forfeiture, makes it clear that what a "violation of this chapter" means is growing plants without a license. The Legislature never intended to authorize the Board to summarily cut down its licensees' plants, where, as here, licensees have "an appropriate registration or proof that he or she is the holder thereof".

That is why any seizure and summary forfeiture requires a "violation of this chapter," which is not the same thing as any "violation of a Board rule". RCW 69.50.325(1), pursuant to which Petitioner got its license, distinguishes the two:

"[t]he production, possession, delivery, distribution, and sale of marijuana in accordance with the provisions of this chapter and the rules adopted to implement and enforce it, by a validly licensed marijuana producer, shall not be a criminal or civil offense under Washington state law."

(Emphasis added.) Similarly, RCW 69.50.345(12) provides that the Board "must" adopt rules

"Specifying procedures for identifying, seizing, confiscating, destroying, and donating to law enforcement for training purposes all marijuana, marijuana concentrates, useable marijuana, and marijuanainfused products produced, processed, packaged, labeled, or offered for sale in this state that do not conform in all respects to the standards prescribed by this chapter or the rules of the state liquor and cannabis board."

See also RCW 69.50.342(1)(l). Given the scope and detail of rules the Board has promulgated may promulgate, a distinction between regulatory violations and statutory violations is vital.

Had the Legislature intended that the "Seizure and Forfeiture" provisions of RCW 69.50.505 be invoked for any regulatory violation, they would have put some reference to the Board's rules in RCW 69.50.505, rather than repeatedly referring throughout the statute to a "violation of this chapter". Indeed, elsewhere the Legislature has expressed its concern that

² The Court of Appeals invoked a related provision to equate violations of any rule with "a violation this Chapter". Specifically, the Court held that "failure to comply with the Board's regulations violates RCW 69.50.366 and therefore constitutes of violation of Chapter 69.50 RCW" (Opinion at 5.)

RCW 69.50.366, like RCW 60.50.325(1), is a "safe harbor" provision against protecting licensees against "criminal or civil offenses under Washington state law". It is not reasonably construed as making any and all regulatory violations a "violation of this Chapter" for seizure purposes. Were that the case, the officer would be entitled to destroy all inventory every time a surveillance camera failed (see WAC 314-55-083(3)), or a visitor forgot to put the time of departure on a log (WAC 314-55-083(1)(b)).

"[t]he risk taking entrepreneurs who are trying to comply with board regulations should not face punitive consequences for mistakes made during this initial phase of the industry that did not pose a direct threat to public health and safety."

(2019 Laws, Chapter 394, § 1.)

In short, like the Board's rules, the governing statute may be easily construed to avoid the serious constitutional problems arising from the notion that licensed businesses may be destroyed for minor regulatory violations with no due process whatsoever.

The Court of Appeals ruled as if the fundamental statutory decision to authorize the cultivation of marijuana plants under license had never been made, and they were "contraband" that may be destroyed at will by the Board's officers. To the contrary, the non-compliant plants "may"—or "may not"—be seized and forfeited only after application of the procedures set forth in the statute and rule.

II. IF THE LEGISLATURE INDEED AUTHORIZED THE BOARD TO BEHAVE IN THIS FASHION, THIS COURT SHOULD PROVIDE A CONSTITUTIONAL DAMAGE REMEDY.

The Court of Appeals suggested that Petitioner did not bring any action for injunctive relief, or seek to invalidate the statute or rules as unconstitutional, instead seeking damages. (Opinion at 2 & 3 n.1.) But it was too late for declaratory or injunctive relief to provide any remedy for Petitioner, because the 411 plants were dead and gone. Moreover, because the statutes and rules could and should have been construed to find the officer's

conduct unauthorized, supporting Petitioner's trespass and conversion claims,³ there was no cause to bring claims against the statute and rules. Petitioner could not have imagined the Legislature to have authorized the Board's officers to behave in this fashion, but if this Court finds that the Legislature did so, the remaining remedy is damages for breach of the due process guarantee of the Washington Constitution.

The Washington Constitution takes care to pronounce that: "The provisions of this Constitution are mandatory, unless by express words they are declared to be otherwise." Wash. Const. Art. I, § 29. Among the most important of those provisions is that: "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law." *Id.* § 3. In addition, Article I, § 7 provides: "No person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." And § 12 provides: "No law shall be passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens, or corporation other than municipal, privileges or immunities

_

³ The trespass statute under which Petitioner sued, RCW 4.24.630, provided a remedy "if the person intentionally and unreasonably commits the act or acts while knowing, or having reason to know, that he or she lacks authorization to so act." Washington officials cannot reasonably expect that they can serve as judge, jury and executioner of a business that has committed a minor regulatory offense. Similarly, conversion requires unjustified, willful interference with a chattel which deprives a person entitled to the property of possession." *Potter v. Wash. State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, 78, 196 P.3d 691, 696 (2008) (internal citations omitted). With no compliance with the regulatory procedures, the destruction here was plainly unjustified.

which upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens, or corporations."⁴

The idea that Enforcement Officers may visit licensees of the Board and destroy their businesses at will without any standards, guidance or any process other than the Enforcement Officer serving as judge, jury and executioner cannot be reconciled with these fundamental and mandatory protections of the Washington Constitution. Indeed, the officer's conduct here should shock the conscience of the Court.

This Court made it clear that such conduct was blatantly unconstitutional long ago, in holding a prior version of RCW 69.50.505(b)(4) unconstitutional on its for failure "to provide for any notice or opportunity for a hearing prior to actual seizure of the property." *Everett v. Slade*, 83 Wn.2d 80, 85, 515 P.2d 1295, 1298 (1973). There, the police officer seized appellant's car for selling a controlled substance, averring that drug violation "involved the use of a vehicle". *Id.* at 82.

_

⁴ Petitioner eschews the assertion of any federal constitutional rights in this action because federal marijuana policy differs from Washington's, and hence extended discussion of the "Gunwall" factors for "whether, in a given situation, the constitution of the State of Washington should be considered as extending broader rights to its citizens than does the United States Constitution," *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 61, 720 P.2d 808, 812 (1986), should not be necessary. Petitioner does not propose to extend the protections of Washington's constitution beyond the federal one except insofar as the marijuana-related nature of its business should not disqualify it from the protection of the Washington Constitution.

That the law might ultimately allow the forfeiture of the car was of no moment. This Court's extended discussion of the nature of due process rights in this context is controlling:

It is said that the questioned provision falls within the "extraordinary situations" exception recognized in various federal due process cases. We do not agree.

Unlimited power of "seizure" is not authorized by the suggested exception. Even there, due process requires that an individual be given an opportunity for a hearing *before* he is deprived of any significant property interest except, as stated by *Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 379, 28 L. Ed. 2d 113, 91 S. Ct. 780 (1971), "for extraordinary situations where some valid governmental interest is at stake that justifies postponing the hearing until after the event." Further, the "opportunity" for a hearing must be granted "at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." *Armstrong v. Manzo*, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 14 L. Ed. 2d 62, 85 S. Ct. 1187 (1965). The hearing must be "appropriate to the nature of the case." *Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 313, 94 L. Ed. 865, 70 S. Ct. 652 (1950).

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