NO. 100098-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

U4IK GARDENS, LLP, a Washington limited liability partnership,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, THE WASHINGTON STATE LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD, et al.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

HEIDI S. HOLLAND Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 27264 1116 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 100 Spokane, WA 99201-1106 (509) 456-3123 OID No. 91023

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

IV. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with a decision of this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and U4IK does not allege otherwise. U4IK has not challenged the constitutionality of the statutes or regulations at issue. Further, the only substantial public interest involved in this case is ensuring that the marijuana industry remains safe for Washington consumers – *not* providing a private right of action for a producer admittedly cultivating marijuana in violation of the laws and regulations intended to protect the public. Accordingly, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), review should be denied.

A. The Board Has Authority to Seize and Destroy Plants Cultivated in Violation of RCW 69.50 and WAC 314-55

It is undisputed that U4IK violated licensing requirements, specifically WAC 314-55-083(4). Those requirements are not just procedural red tape; they are "[t]o prevent diversion and to promote public safety." The Legislature mandated that the Board "enforce all provisions" of RCW 69.50. RCW 69.50.500(a). U4IK's admitted violation of traceability regulations means "it also necessarily failed to comply with RCW 69.50.366, the statute that requires licensed marijuana producers to comply with all Board regulations." *U4IK Gardens*, 2021 WL 3057064, at *8.⁶

As the Court of Appeals noted, RCW 69.50.505(2)(c) authorizes the Board to seize property *without process* if "[a] board

⁶ U4IK continues to argue it violated just a Board rule and not RCW 69.50; however, it ignores the plain language of the statute. Pet. for Review at 10. RCW 69.50.366 provides: "The following acts, when performed by a validly licensed marijuana producer . . . *in compliance with rules adopted by the [Board*] to implement and enforce this chapter, do not constitute criminal or civil offenses under Washington state law" (Emphasis added.)

inspector or law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the property is directly or indirectly dangerous to health or safety." *U4IK Gardens*, 2021 WL 3057064, at *6. The regulations themselves state that violations of traceability requirements, which include physically tagging each plant, create a threat to public health and safety. WAC 314-55-083(4), -521. Nonetheless, U4IK argues the Board did not have the authority to destroy the untagged plants. It is wrong.

RCW 69.50.505(12) provides that marijuana plants that "have been planted or cultivated in violation of this chapter . . . may be seized and summarily forfeited" to the Board. WAC 314-55-210(5) explicitly authorizes the destruction of untagged plants. In dispensing with the same arguments U4IK makes here, the Court of Appeals found that, although the other sub-sections of the regulation provide "other avenues to destruction, involving an administrative hold or case adjudication example, the plain language for of WAC 314-55-210(5) provides for the destruction of *plants* not

12

identifiable through the Board's tracing system, without reference to any delay or predestruction proceeding." *U4IK Gardens*, 2021 WL 3057064, at *9 (emphasis added).

As it did below, U4IK relies on WAC 314-55-210(6) for the proposition that an administrative hold of the illegally cultivated plants was required. Pet. for Review at 7.⁷ However, it again ignores the plain language that "allows for, but does not require, an administrative hold." *U4IK*, 2021 WL 3057064, at *9.⁸

The Court of Appeals' interpretation is consistent with this Court's ruling that "the term 'may' in a statute generally confers discretion." *Freeman v. Freeman*, 169 Wn.2d 664, 671, 239 P.3d 557 (2010); *Nat'l Elec. Contractors Ass'n, Cascade Chapter v.*

⁷ U4IK weaves a dramatic hypothetical where an enforcement officer acts as "investigator, prosecutor, judge, and executioner" and improperly "deem[s] [marijuana] to not be identifiable;" however, U4IK *conceded* that it violated the traceability requirements of WAC 314-55-083(4)(f). Pet. for Review at 8.

⁸ "WSLCB officers *may* order an administrative hold of marijuana" WAC 314-55-210(6).

Riveland, 138 Wn.2d 9, 28, 978 P.2d 481 (1999) (statute's use of the term "may" was permissive and did not create duty); *Yakima Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 12 v. City of Yakima*, 122 Wn.2d 371, 381, 858 P.2d 245 (1993) (same).⁹

Tellingly, U4IK does not argue or cite any authority supporting a conclusion that the Court of Appeals interpreted the relevant statute or regulations incorrectly or its decision conflicts with case law from this Court or any published decision of the Court of Appeals. It is axiomatic that if a statute, or in this case a regulation, is plain and unambiguous, its meaning must be derived from wording of the regulation itself. *Berger v. Sonneland*, 144 Wn.2d 91, 105, 26 P.3d 257 (2001). Ambiguity does not arise simply because there are conceivably different interpretations of a regulation. "The courts are not obliged to discern an ambiguity by imagining a variety of alternative

14

⁹ The rules of statutory construction also apply to regulations. *Whatcom Cnty. v. Hirst*, 186 Wn.2d 648, 667, 381 P.3d 1 (2016).

interpretations." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted). Yet, that is precisely what U4IK has argued, i.e., that the regulations "need not be construed" in the manner in which both the trial court and the Court of Appeals interpreted them. Pet. for Review at 6, 9. The plain language of the statute and regulations allowed the Board to destroy marijuana plants "that were not maintained in compliance with chapter 69.50 or Board regulations." *U4IK Gardens*, 2021 WL 3057064, at 7-8.

As acknowledged by U4IK, there is a "longstanding rule that courts should generally construe a legislative enactment 'in a way that is consistent with its underlying purpose and avoids constitutional deficiencies." Pet. for Review at 8 (citing *State v. Crediford* 130 Wn.2d 747, 755, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996)). However, U4IK ignores the express intent of the people of Washington, the Legislature, and the Board in legalizing and regulating marijuana. "The surest indication of legislative intent is the language enacted by the legislature, so if the meaning of a statute is plain on its face, [courts] give effect to that plain meaning." *State v. Ervin*, 169 Wn.2d 815, 820, 239 P.3d 354 (2010) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

This Court does not have to look far to find the intent of RCW 69.50 or WAC 314-55: *public health and safety. See, e.g.*, RCW 69.50.500(a), .342 note ("This act is necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health, or safety, or support of the state government and its existing public institutions, and takes effect immediately [March 25, 2020]."); WAC 314-55-083(4) (to promote public safety); WAC 314-55-050 (license can be denied/cancelled/suspended where "in the best interest of the welfare, health, or safety of the people of the state"); WAC 314-55-521 (violations create threat to public health and safety).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Board has the authority to seize and destroy plants cultivated in violation of RCW 69.50 and WAC 314-55. Its decision does not conflict with case law from this Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. And, importantly, it effectuates the express intent of the rules and regulations to protect public health and safety.

B. The Washington Constitution Does Not Provide a Private Right of Action

Despite its illegal cultivation of marijuana plants; the intent of the people of Washington to create a tightly regulated, state-licensed system for marijuana production; and the express direction of the Legislature to protect public health and safety, U4IK invites this Court to create a private right of action for monetary damages under the Washington State Constitution. However, U4IK had no property rights to the untagged plants that were seized, Washington does not provide a private right of action for alleged constitutional violations, and this Court should decline U4IK's invitation to create one.

1. U4IK has no property right in illegally cultivated marijuana

U4IK's claims that the Board is not guided by any standards and that U4IK has a right to illegally cultivated marijuana are both factually and legally inaccurate. See Pet. for Review at 14.

The marijuana industry is highly regulated – as the people of Washington intended it should be. As a licensed marijuana producer and processor, U4IK agreed to comply with the laws and regulations. *See* RCW 69.50.366; WAC 314-55-110. Only compliance protects growing and processing marijuana from being considered a felony. RCW 69.50.401.

The laws and rules are designed to ensure against product being diverted to the black market and, more importantly, to protect the health and safety of marijuana consumers. As part of the Board's statutory duty to enforce all the provisions of RCW 69.50, the Legislature explicitly authorized the Board to seize property *without process* if "[a] board inspector or law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the property is directly or indirectly dangerous to health or safety." RCW 69.50.500(a), .505(2)(c). Rather than leave this determination up to each inspector's discretion, as U4IK seems to argue, the Board promulgated rules to define when violations may be dangerous to health or safety. Tagging violations "create a direct or immediate threat to public health, safety, or both." WAC 314-55-521. The regulations further warn manufacturers that the Board may seize, confiscate, and destroy "[a]ny . . . untraceable product required to be in the traceability system" or "that is not identifiable through the Washington marijuana traceability system." WAC 314-55-210(2), (5).

Furthermore, by voluntarily engaging in the tightly regulated marijuana industry, U4IK agreed to permit the Board to conduct unannounced inspections. RCW 69.50.562-.563; WAC 314-55-185-540;¹⁰ see also Dodge City Saloon, Inc., v. Liquor Control Bd., 168 Wn. App. 388, 396, 288 P.3d 343 (2012) (rejecting nightclub's allegation that a warrantless underage

¹⁰ Further, it is uncontested that U4IK's owner gave express permission for the officers to enter. CP 131-32. *See United States v. Bramble*, 103 F.3d 1475, 1478 (9th Cir. 1996) ("Once consent has been obtained from one with authority to give it, any expectation of privacy is lost.").

compliance check violated constitutional protections against unreasonable searches and seizures).

The untagged marijuana plants that were seized and forfeited were not property U4IK had a right to possess. The Legislature made clear distinctions between "property" and controlled substances as evidenced by its lengthy detail of what property may be seized and the procedures to follow set out in RCW 69.50.505(1)-(8), (14)-(17). And it expressly stated that "no property rights exist" in both controlled substances and the raw materials used to manufacture controlled substances in violation of RCW 69.50. RCW 69.50.505(1)(a), (b).

Even in *City of Everett v. Slade*, 83 Wn.2d 80, 515 P.2d 1295 (1973), cited by U4IK, while there was a dispute over the vehicle that was seized, there was never any contention that the plaintiff had a property interest in the controlled substances he was selling, as U4IK claims it has here. Further, the *City of Everett* Court noted that a prior hearing is not required if seizure is "necessary to secure an important governmental or general public

interest" 83 Wn.2d at 83-84 (quoting *Fuentes v. Shevin*, 407 U.S. 67, 90, 92 S. Ct. 1983, 1999, 32 L. Ed. 2d 556 (1972)).

U4IK was growing marijuana plants in violation of the rules and regulations it was mandated to follow, and RCW 69.50.505(12) separately and succinctly authorizes the Board to seize and *summarily* forfeit marijuana plants that were illegally cultivated. There is an obvious governmental interest in seizing untagged marijuana plants because, pursuant to WAC 314-55-521, they "create a direct or immediate threat to public health, safety, or both." *See also* WAC 314-55-210(5), -083(4).¹¹

2. No private right of action exists and none should be created here

Even assuming arguendo that U4IK had some property interest in the illegally cultivated marijuana plants, its request for

¹¹ While the Court of Appeals did not decide the issue of whether illegally cultivated marijuana plants constituted contraband, *U4IK Gardens*, 2021 WL 3057064, at *n.6, it remains the Board's position that, because marijuana is a Schedule I drug under RCW 69.50.204(c)(22), untagged plants are contraband and therefore both RCW 69.50.505(11) and (12) apply. *See also* CP 133.

relief for a claimed due process violation and alleged unlawful seizure under the Washington Constitution fails as a matter of law. "Washington courts have consistently rejected invitations to establish a cause of action for damages based upon constitutional violations 'without the aid of augmentative legislation [.]" Blinka v. Wash. State Bar Ass'n, 109 Wn. App. 575, 591, 36 P.3d 1094 (2001), review denied, 146 Wn.2d 1021, 52 P.3d 520 (2002) (quoting Sys. Amusement, Inc. v. State, 7 Wn. App. 516, 517, 500 P.2d 1253 (1972); also citing Spurrell v. Bloch, 40 Wn. App. 854, 860-61, 701 P.2d 529 (1985); Reid v. Pierce Cnty., 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 (1998)). U4IK's claims of due process violations and purportedly unlawful seizures were properly dismissed because the Washington State Constitution does not provide a private right of action.

Likewise, this Court should reject U4IK's invitation to create a cause of action for damages under the Washington Constitution. Pet. for Review at 18. First, not only is there no supportive "augmentative legislation," but instead, the Legislature has expressly stated that licensees out of compliance with the statutes and regulations do not have any protected property interest in either controlled substances or the raw materials to produce controlled substances. RCW 69.50.505(1).

Second, U4IK admits it failed to comply with tagging requirements; thus, it was out of compliance with the applicable statutes and regulations. Pet. for Review at 2. Only marijuana produced in compliance with the applicable statutes is legal to possess. RCW 69.50.401(3). U4IK is therefore asking this Court for a constitutional remedy that somehow ignores that, at the time of forfeiture, it was in violation of the criminal code. *See* RCW 69.50.401(d). U4IK's unabashed request for money damages from its failure to follow the law should be rejected.

V. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to RCW 69.50, the Board had authority to seize, summarily forfeit, and destroy marijuana plants removed from U4IK's premises when it is undisputed that U4IK failed to attach traceability identifiers required by WAC 314-55-083(4). Further, U4IK's claims for monetary damages under the Washington Constitution were properly dismissed when it did not have a property right in the illegally cultivated marijuana plants and Washington does not recognize private causes of action for damages based upon alleged constitutional violations. Accordingly, this Court should decline U4IK's petition for review.

This document contains 3,869 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.